
6.2 
 

Action/Information Item 
 

California Student Aid Commission 
 

Approval of November 17-18, 2005 Minutes 
 

 
 
 
Recommended Action:  The Commission is asked to  
 approve the minutes.   

   



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 1 November 17-18, 2005 
  

 
CALIFORNIA STUDENT AID COMMISSION 

COMMISSION MEETING 
 

MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 17-18, 2005 

 

 
A meeting of the California Student Aid Commission was held on Thursday, November 17, 
2005, at 3300 Zinfandel Drive, Rancho Cordova, California. 
 
At 8:38 a.m., Chair James Sandoval decided to modify the agenda, due to lack of a quorum, 
and recess to the Standing Committee meetings, commencing with the meeting of the 
Outreach Committee. 
 
At 9:00 a.m., a quorum was established and Chair Sandoval called the meeting of the 
California Student Aid Commission to order. 
 
The following Commission Members were present: 
 

James Sandoval, Chair 
Louise McClain, Vice Chair 
James Fousekis, Treasurer 
Rory Diamond 
Michele Dyke 
Sally Furay 
Dean Johnston 
Adele Levine 
Charles Moore 
 

The following Commission Members were absent: 
 

Josefina Baltodano, Secretary 
David Roth 
 

Chair Sandoval called for public comment, and hearing none, recessed to the Standing 
Committee meetings, whereby the Committees operated as a Committee of the Whole and 
resumed the Outreach Committee. 
 
 
STANDING COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
 

Outreach Committee 
 
Agenda Item 1.1 – Approval of the September 8, 2005 Minutes 
 
On MOTION by Commissioner Dyke, SECONDED and CARRIED, the Committee of the 
Whole approved the minutes of the September 8, 2005 meeting.   



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 2 November 17-18, 2005 
  

 
Agenda Item 1.2 – Public Awareness Campaign Update 
 
Steve Caldwell, Chief of the Outreach and Public Awareness Division introduced the newly 
formed division and summarized staff responsibilities.  The newly contracted public 
awareness campaign firm, Crocker Flanagan was introduced to the Commission and 
several aspects of the campaign were discussed in summary.  The campaign and the 
California Cash for College campaign would be highly integrated this year.  The goal is to 
educate students on the opportunities available and drive them to workshops to apply for 
financial aid.  The campaign would also utilize the priority schools list which would be 
developed by the University of California All Campus Consortium On Research for Diversity 
(UC ACCORD) project and Commission staff.  The theme for this year’s public awareness 
campaign is “Two Forms.  Tons of Opportunity.” 
 
Agenda Item 1.3 – Report on Outreach Summits 
 
Steve Caldwell indicated that a summary of the Outreach Summits was included in the 
Commissioner’s binders and noted that we had increased the number of summits from one 
in 2004 to two in 2005.  One summit was held in Stockton at San Joaquin Delta College 
and the other was held as University of California, Irvine.  The summits were very 
successful, well attended and represented outreach professionals from much of California.  
Staff noted that Commissioner McClain, Commissioner Dyke, and former Commissioner 
Serna were very helpful and participated in the summits.   
 
Staff provided the 2005-06 High School Entitlement Cal Grant Program Grade Point 
Average (GPA) Submission Types and Cal Grant Application and Award Summary Data by 
School to the Commissioners for their information.  The report is also available on the 
Commission’s website at www.csac.ca.gov.  The information in this report is available to 
legislative staff and to outreach professionals.  The Commission will use this data and the 
developing priority schools list to help guide the public awareness campaign.   
 
Agenda Item 1.4 – California Cash for College Update 
 
Despina Costopoulos, the California Cash for College Coordinator, summarized the status 
of the program.  Ms. Costopoulos commented that staff has engaged in a multiple, 
dimensional effort, not one approved for providing outreach services.  The efforts 
encompass Legislators, local superintendents, outreach programs, or grass roots efforts 
with faith based and community based organizations who are all working together to 
provide opportunity to California students and families.   
 
Staff noted and Commissioner McClain reiterated that the priority schools list is not meant 
to single out particular schools for their current data, but to provide tools to them to help 
improve GPA and Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) submissions and, in 
turn, the number of Cal Grant awards provided to their students.   
 
Ms. Costopoulos discussed the California Cash for College Advisory Committee and 
introduced two of its members that were in the audience:  Paige Marlatt-Dorr with the 
Community Colleges’ “I Can Afford College Campaign” and Karen Micalizio with the 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 3 November 17-18, 2005 
  

California Community Colleges Student Financial Aid Administrators Association 
(CCCSFAAA). 
 
The Committee was informed that Cash for College was successful in securing a grant of 
$385,000 from the Education Financing Foundation of California which made it possible to 
offer a $1,000 scholarship to help promote interest in the Cash for College workshops.  
Also, with input from CCCSFAAA and the California Association of Student Financial Aid 
Administrators (CASFAA), the Cash for College television show will return this year.  The 
show would combine street style with elements of fun to keep students interested.  The 
Baka Boyz, who are from Bakersfield and are nationally syndicated, were included in the 
show which has been aired in Los Angeles to enable exposure to students who are in all-
year-round schools.   
 
The workshop registration process is available on line as well as a workshop locator that 
will allow students and families to key in their zip code to find workshops close to their 
homes.   
 
Audit Committee 
 
Commission Chair Sandoval acknowledged that Commissioner Fousekis announced two 
weeks prior to this meeting that he had resigned from the Audit Committee and as Chair of 
the Committee.  Commissioner Sandoval thanked Commissioner Fousekis for his extensive 
and hard work while on the Committee. 
 
Commissioner Fousekis stated that his decision was made to ensure no appearance of a 
conflict of interest since the Committee will be working with KPMG on certain audit matters 
while his law firm provides some limited services to KPMG.  Commissioner Fousekis 
reminded the Committee that he has recused himself in the past on prior matters involving 
KPMG.  He then stated that he was pleased that Dean Johnston had been appointed by 
Commissioner Sandoval as the new Chair of the Audit Committee. 
 
Public Comment 
 
Commissioner Johnston asked for any public comment.  No public comment was made. 
 
Agenda Item 2.1 – Approval of September 8, 2005 Minutes 
 
On MOTION by Commissioner McClain, SECONDED and CARRIED, the Committee of the 
Whole approved the minutes of the September 8, 2005 Audit Committee meeting. 
 
Agenda Item 2.2 – JLAC Audit Update 
 
Diane Manning, Chief Audit Executive, provided an update on the performance audit being 
performed by the Bureau of State Audits requested by the Joint Legislative Audit 
Committee (JLAC).  Ms. Manning stated that the audit began in mid-September.  The 
auditors informed her that they expect to remain on-site until early January and expect to 
issue their report by March 31, 2006.   
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 4 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Agenda Item 2.3 – Update on Program Compliance Reviews 
 
Janet McDuffie, Management Services Chief, and Charles Wood, Manager of the Program 
Compliance Branch, provided a briefing on reviews conducted by CSAC staff on 
institutions who participate in the Cal Grant programs, including the Cal-SOAP consortia.  
Ms. McDuffie provided a high-level explanation of how the reviews are conducted.  She 
also provided a summary of recurring findings identified over the last two fiscal years which 
are often in the areas of student eligibility, disbursement of funds, accounting practices, 
and reconciliation.  
 
Mr. Wood indicated that his team has not seen significant improvement in the area of 
reconciliation over the years on the part of the institutions.  Ms. McDuffie stated that it is 
difficult to determine whether a single institution is making improvements in the 
reconciliation area because staff typically only visit a school once every eight years due to 
the large number of schools and limited audit resources.  Mr. Wood also stated that an 
area that his team has seen an increase in findings is in system security, specifically 
system access. 
 
Ms. McDuffie also provided an update on the Cal-SOAP consortium reviews.  She stated 
that all of the initial reviews have been completed and that the related reports are made 
available on the Commission’s website.  Ms. McDuffie stated that Mr. Wood is currently 
reviewing the corrective actions the consortium have taken in response to the reported 
findings and to verify that appropriate actions have been taken. 
 
Agenda Item 2.4 – Approval of the CSAC Internal Audit Plan 
 
Ms. Manning presented the CSAC Internal Audit Plan for the two year audit cycle ending 
December 31, 2007.  Ms. Manning stated that the plan and a detailed risk analysis were 
provided to the Audit Committee a week prior to the meeting for the members to review.  
She then described how the plan was developed. 
 
Commissioner Johnston asked for any public comment before voting on the plan.  No 
public comment was made. 
 
On MOTION by Commissioner McClain, SECONDED and CARRIED, the Committee of the 
Whole approved the CSAC Internal Audit Plan for the two year audit cycle. 
 
Agenda Item 2.5 – Internal Audit Update 
 
Ms. Manning informed the Committee that Internal Audit was currently performing an 
internal audit of Cal Grant disbursements and reconciliation activities performed by CSAC 
staff.  Internal Audit expects to issue the report to the Audit Committee in January 2006. 
 
Agenda Item 2.6 – Legal Proceedings 
 
Keith Yamanaka, Chief Legal Counsel, informed the Committee that there were no legal 
matters to report at this time. 
 
Governmental Relations Committee 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 5 November 17-18, 2005 
  

 
Agenda Item 3.1 – Approval of the September 8, 2005 Minutes 
 
On MOTION by Commissioner Dyke, SECONDED and CARRIED, the Committee of the 
Whole approved the minutes of the September 8, 2005 meeting.   
 
 
 
Agenda Item 3.2 – State Legislation and Issues Update 
 
Carlos Machado, Chief, Governmental and Public Affairs Division summarized the bills the 
Commission has been tracking over the last year and indicated that since this was the end 
of the first half of the two-year session, the bills that had not been vetoed by the Governor, 
may become two year bills and be brought to the committees beginning in January.  
Division Chief Machado specifically addressed the following bills: 
 

• AB 358 – This bill would establish a formula to determine the maximum Cal Grant A 
and B award for students attending non-public colleges and universities.   

 
• AB 1531 – This bill would have provided a local remedy for students that have not 

passed the California High School Exit Exam.  The Governor vetoed AB 1531. 
 
• AB 1241 – This bill would have required all high schools to submit GPAs to the 

Commission for Cal Grant purposes.  It was later amended to require the 
Commission to work with the Superintendent of Public Instruction’s office to 
encourage the school districts to submit GPAs to the Commission.  Staff will 
continue to work with the high schools, the district superintendent associations, the 
Superintendent of Public Instruction and other willing partners to continue to 
improve on the submission process in order to help more students qualify for 
financial aid through the Cal Grant programs.   

 
Division Chief Machado also discussed the November 8th election.  He noted that 
Proposition 76, the state spending and school funding limits proposal, failed with 61.1 
percent of the voters registering a no vote. 
 
The Legislative Analyst’s Office (LAO) released its annual California fiscal outlook 
projections for 2005 through 2010-11.  The report indicated that the outlook has improved 
over the prior year.  The State has benefited from both a major increase in revenues and 
the significant amount of savings adopted in the 2005-06 spending plan.  In the report, the 
LAO stated that the projections indicated that the revenue and savings would be more than 
sufficient to keep the State budget in balance in 2006-07 without any new program 
reductions or added revenues.    
 
Agenda Item 3.3 – State Legislative Principles 
 
The Commission briefly discussed the State Legislative Principles noting that they had 
been previously approved by the Commission. 
 
Agenda Item 3.4 – Federal Activities Update 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 6 November 17-18, 2005 
  

 
Division Chief Machado discussed the summary of federal issues and activities that was 
included in the agenda.  The Higher Education Act was extended until December 31, 2005 
signaling Congress’ commitment to complete the re-authorization this year although there 
continues to be doubt in the higher education community about completing re-authorization 
this year.  Senator Kennedy introduced an amendment that would increase the maximum 
Pell Grant by $200 to $4,250.   
 
The Budget Reconciliation Bill includes two new grant programs.  Those programs are the 
Provisional Grant Assistance Program and the National Science and Mathematics Access 
to Retaining Talent Grant Program (SMARTS).  The total funding for these programs is 
$2.2 billion, with $1 billion earmarked as an increase to the SMART program. 
 
Joint Governmental Relations Committee and Grants and Programs Committee 
 
Agenda Item 4.1 -  California High School Exit Exam and Cal Grant Eligibility; 

Consideration of Adopting a Policy that 1) Achieving a Passing 
Score on an Ability to Benefit Test Approved by the U.S. Secretary 
of Education, and 2) Successfully Completing a High School 
Course of Study, is the Equivalent of High School Graduation 

 
The Joint Governmental Relations and Grants & Programs Committees meeting began 
with Carlos Machado, Chief of Governmental & Public Affairs Division, discussing the 
California Highs School Exit Exam (CAHSEE).  Mr. Machado explained that based on 
current law graduates of 2006 must pass the CAHSEE exam as a condition of graduation 
and California students not passing the exam will not be eligible for Cal Grant Program 
consideration.  Mr. Machado further explained that Commission staff has sought input and 
guidance from industry partners on solutions to address the CAHSEE issue.  Based on this 
feedback, Mr. Machado explained that Commission staff was interested in looking at ways 
in which low-income students, who do not pass CAHSEE, but have otherwise been 
admitted to a postsecondary institution, can continue to receive support through the Cal 
Grant Program.   
 
Commission staff has identified different options to address this issue.  Mr. Machado noted 
that one option is through an “administrative decision” exercised by the Commission.  This 
approach could allow the Commission to consider the Ability to Benefit (ATB) test(s) to 
serve as a high school equivalency for Cal Grant eligibility as recommended by the 
Commission’s Grant Advisory Committee (GAC).  Mr. Machado further explained that a 
second option is for the Commission to take this action through the establishment of 
emergency regulations.  This approach, would also allow the ATB test(s) to be used to 
establish equivalency to high school graduation.  Mr. Machado then laid out a third option 
in which the Commission would pursue a remedy of the CAHSEE issue through the 
legislative process by sponsoring urgency legislation.  
 
Mr. Machado called on Max Espinoza, Chief, Program Administration & Services Division 
(PASD), Mary Lindsey, Grant Advisory Committee (GAC) Chair and Keith Yamanaka, the 
Commission Chief Legal Counsel to discuss these options in further detail. 
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 7 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Mr. Espinoza explained that staff worked closely with GAC on the impact of CAHSEE on 
Cal Grant eligibility.  Mr. Espinoza explained that GAC met several times to discuss this 
issue in detail. Mr. Espinoza also explained that there have been some informal 
discussions by Commission staff with legislative staff to get more clarity on legislative views 
regarding a potential alternative to the current situation with CAHSEE and Cal Grant 
eligibility.  Mr. Espinoza then invited Ms. Lindsey to present the GAC perspective and 
recommendations to the Commission.   
 
In response to a question from Committee Vice Chairperson Fousekis about why this issue 
was being brought to the Commission at this time, Executive Director Diana Fuentes-
Michel provided an overview of some of her conversations with key legislative policy staff 
and the State Superintendent for Public Instruction’s staff.  Executive Director Fuentes-
Michel explained that Assembly and Senate staff were looking to Assembly Member Karen 
Bass’s bill regarding alternatives to CAHSEE as a possible option for attending to these 
issues as it pertains to students who do not pass the CAHSEE exam.   
 
Executive Director Fuentes-Michel explained that Assembly Member Bass’s bill would have 
provided an alternative for special populations having difficulty passing the CAHSEE to 
receive their high school diploma.  The Governor vetoed the bill, but discussions with Sue 
Stickel, Deputy State Superintendent for Public Instruction, and other legislative staff 
concerned with this issue, continued so that more options could be considered.   
 
Mr. Espinoza added that the need for the Commission discussing the CAHSEE issue now 
is due to the looming 2006-07 Cal Grant award processing that begins in January.  
Currently, the Commission initially awards Cal Grants based on several factors, including 
the expected graduation date provided by the student on the Free Application for Federal 
Student Aid (FAFSA).  Mr. Espinoza continued by explaining that schools have the primary 
responsibility to verify a student’s eligibility for a Cal Grant based on Commission policies 
and guidelines.  Mr. Espinoza explained that these timing issues are the reason this issue 
is being brought before the Commission today. 
 
GAC Chair Lindsey began her comments to the Commission by noting that GAC met on 
two occasions, without the benefit of legal counsel on this issue, and put together a multi-
tiered recommendation anticipating the different possible interpretations or advice that 
legal counsel might give the Commission.  Ms. Lindsey explained that the primary goal of 
GAC was to find an equivalency for high school graduation for Cal Grant eligibility only for 
students who did not pass CAHSEE.  Ms. Lindsey added that for over 25 years, the ATB 
test(s) has been given to students without a high school diploma for federal financial aid 
eligibility purposes.  Ms. Lindsey explained that in forming its recommendation GAC 
wanted to keep the process very simple for students and link the state financial aid process 
to the federal financial aid process to keep the administration at the campus level from 
becoming more complex than it needs to be. 
 
Ms. Lindsey explained the GAC recommendation that the ATB test(s) be used to establish 
high school equivalency for Cal Grant purposes only.  Ms. Lindsey explained that GAC 
further recommends that the Commission implement this policy change through 
administrative action if at all possible.  If legal counsel advises the Commission that 
administrative action is not possible then GAC would recommend the Commission adopt 
emergency regulations implementing this policy change.  If legal counsel advises the 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 8 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Commission that emergency regulations are not feasible then GAC would recommend that 
the Commission move forward with pursuing a statutory change. 
 
In support of GAC’s recommendation, Ms. Lindsey explained that GAC would like to see 
this issue remain a financial aid issue since financial aid has a long history of providing 
students of ability with access and choice who financially, otherwise, could not attend 
college.  Ms. Lindsey added that approximately 22 states have an exit exam and only eight 
use it as a single measure for high school graduation.  Ms. Lindsey added that she 
believes that current regulation rather than statute allows for the General Education 
Diploma (GED) to be used for high school equivalency.  Ms. Lindsey explained that the 
GED is costly for disadvantaged students.  Ms. Lindsey pointed out that over the past 
couple of years outreach has coined the slogan “it takes two”—GPA and FAFSA—but it 
was never explained to students that “it takes three.”  
 
Ms. Lindsey explained the continued need to define “equivalency” as it pertains to high 
school graduation and described her understanding that the GED equivalency was listed 
because of its acceptance historically and because the group looking at the issue at that 
time wanted to keep high school equivalency as general as possible to have flexibility and 
deal with issues administratively. 
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis noted the Governor’s veto message on Assembly Member 
Bass’s bill appeared to put the pressure on people to graduate high school and pass the 
exit exam.  Mr. Fousekis asked if Commission staff had talked with the Governor’s Office 
about this issue.    Executive Director Fuentes-Michel explained that she had informal 
conversations with the Department of Finance (DOF) and the Office of the Secretary of 
Education and the Governor’s stated position on the exam is clear based on his veto 
message and they do not see a shift from this position at this time. 
 
Executive Director Fuentes-Michel noted that the preamble for the Cal Grant Entitlement 
legislation has specific language that goes to issues of “qualified” and “capable.”  Executive 
Director Fuentes-Michel further explained that the exit exam legislation was signed in the 
1999-2000 session and that the Cal Grant Entitlement legislation was signed on 
September 11, 2000 after the high school exit exam legislation was put into statute in 
March of the prior year.  Executive Director Fuentes-Michel asserted that the language of 
the Entitlement legislation that discusses student qualification and ability is not in statute, 
but instead in the preamble, but it is clear that there was an understanding and link 
between the two. 
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis asked if the Governor’s Office and the Secretary of Education 
would oppose the Commission taking action administratively to do what is proposed.  In 
response, Mr. Machado indicated that Commission staff did not know the answer to that 
specific question and that there are further discussions that need to happen with the 
Administration.  Mr. Machado explained that these discussions could take place through 
the regulatory process or through the consideration of legislation.  Mr. Machado reiterated 
Executive Director Fuentes-Michel’s observations regarding the Cal Grant Entitlement 
Program supporting academically eligible students.  Mr. Machado noted that academically 
eligible could be interpreted in a number of ways including a student’s completion of A-G 
requirements for university admissions.   
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 9 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Commissioner Dean Johnston expressed that a “legislative fix may get into more 
processes and other people trying to tell us how to operate this place.”  He noted that at his 
institution, in many cases, his ATB students score higher on entrance tests than his high 
school graduates.  Commissioner Johnston explained that the ATB sometimes has more to 
do with economic and nonacademic issues rather than their ability to benefit from a 
program.  Commissioner Johnston explained that he welcomed a discussion on the merits 
of the ATB test(s) and the credibility of the test(s).   
 
Committee Member Louise McClain explained that as the Commissioner representing the 
K-12 segment she felt it was her job to put a “real face” to the issues being discussed.  She 
noted that of the senior class she manages, two cannot pass the CAHSEE.  She noted that 
both students happen to be AVID students, are originally from Vietnam and have high 
marks in various subjects, including GPAs above 3.0 and are low income.  Member 
McClain expressed that she would like to see these students go to the school of their 
choice and become an asset to the State of California.   
 
Commissioner Rory Diamond asked Commissioner McClain what the problem was in 
passing the exam after six chances to do so, noting that these students being described 
are clearly better students than he was.  Member McClain explained that she did not know 
but the essay portion of the exam was a “boomerang.”  Commissioner McClain explained 
that the GED, in this particular case, would not work as an alternative to not passing 
CAHSEE because one of the students she is talking about will not turn 18 years old until 
next October and this student cannot take the GED until 60 days out from her 18th birthday.   
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis asked if this type of student could get into the University of 
California despite not passing the exit exam and graduating from high school.  Mr. 
Espinoza responded that Commission staff have been consulting with the segments and 
have heard from the University of California that they will allow campuses to admit highly 
exceptional students like the one described through special admission if they met all other 
requirements but did not pass the exit exam.  Executive Director Fuentes-Michel added 
that a copy of a letter received by the University of California on this issue went to all 
Commissioners and will be passed out again for their reference. 
 
Commissioner Levine explained that the Commission is not the only organization that will 
become active in this debate and that organizations like the California School Boards 
Association is already at work on this leading to likely legislation that will allow students like 
the one described to get a chance to attend college.  Referring back to the GAC 
recommendation, Commissioner Levine expressed her belief that it would behoove the 
Commission to find out what the legal issues are so that the Commission could decide 
what action is being discussed as a possible solution. 
 
Commission Chairperson Sandoval agreed with Commissioner Levine and noted that one 
of the key issues is the congruence between the Entitlement legislation and the Education 
Code that governs the high school exit examination, or the lack thereof.  Chairperson 
Sandoval expressed that importance of getting as much input as possible from the 
audience and proposed that the Commissioners proceed by hearing legal counsel’s 
opinion. 
 
At the request of Vice Chairperson Fousekis, Chief Legal Counsel Keith Yamanaka 
explained his opinion that an administrative action on the part of the Executive Director 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 10 November 17-18, 2005 
  

alone would not be justified as it pertains to this issue and at the very least the Commission 
would need to adopt a regulation.  With that in mind, Mr. Yamanaka explained that the 
Commission has a choice to move forward with regulations or statute in resolving this 
matter. 
 
Mr. Yamanaka explained that establishing regulations would be problematic since the 
Commission would have to show consistency with law. With regard to statutory law, Mr. 
Yamanaka explained that Chapter 403 of the Statutes (SB1644) complicates matters since 
it lays out in legislative findings and declarations that it is not just about people with 
financial need, but for those students who have “academic merit, capable graduates of 
high school, academically successful students, academically qualified students, and every 
qualified student deserves a chance to go on, to aim high and succeed.”  Mr. Yamanaka 
explained that these are the concepts behind Cal Grant program and you cannot “divorce 
the financial need aspects from the academic qualifications.”  Mr. Yamanaka further 
explained that the complication in establishing consistency lies in showing through 
documentation and proof that the ATB test(s) would establish consistency and equivalency 
to requirements of high school graduation as established in statute.  
 
In pursuing regulatory action, Mr. Yamanaka asserted that the Commission would need 
some basis to say that there is consistency with the law and that prior to taking such an 
action the Commission would want to pursue some course that would allow it to get 
evidence that would establish equivalency.  Mr. Yamanaka explained that the GED and the 
high school proficiency exam were established as an equivalent to high school graduation 
through the Legislature and in statute, so the Commission’s application of these 
equivalents in determining Cal Grant eligibility is merely applying the law. 
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis asked Mr. Yamanaka if he was familiar with the ATB test(s).  
Mr. Yamanaka responded that while he was not familiar with the actual test(s) he was 
familiar with the regulations adopted by the federal government to govern the process and 
he maintained that these regulations did not provide any basis for claiming statutory 
equivalency for the ATB test(s) to be used for equivalency.  Mr. Yamanaka further 
explained that the issue is complicated by the fact that there are multiple ATB tests and 
that proof of equivalency for every single test would need to be established for the 
Commission to accept them.   
 
Commissioner Johnston explained that there are not a lot of tests approved by the United 
States Department of Education and there are minimum standards and longitudinal studies 
that are accepted by all of higher education.  Commissioner Johnston expressed his view 
that what is needed to get over the legal hurdles on this issue is to educate the legal side 
of the documentation available on the ATB tests.  
 
Commission Chairperson Sandoval noted that the Commission is not looking to establish 
ability to benefit to the federal government, but instead, to other state entities, like the 
Legislature, the Secretary of Education, and the State Board of Education that have 
already made some determinations to what equivalency is.  Chairperson Sandoval asked 
Mr. Yamanaka to what extent the matter being discussed was exclusively under the 
purview of the Commission or under the purview of other state entities with whom the 
Commission should be collaborating.   
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 11 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Mr. Yamanaka explained that while the Cal Grant law applies to financial aid there is a 
connection to whom that state chooses to finance and educate, and the policy issue comes 
down to the education of students who have not shown a level of achievement that the 
state expects high schools to achieve.  Mr. Yamanaka explained that this policy issue does 
affect other state entities and state law provides that the State Board of Education, in 
consultation with the State Superintendent of Public Instruction, can determine alternatives 
for students to demonstrate competency instead of passing the high school exit exam.  Mr. 
Yamanaka further asserted that if there was a legal challenge to the Commission’s 
authority to adopt regulations, it could be argued that the Commission was intruding on the 
authority of the State Board of Education by developing an equivalent measure of student 
competency from high school by using the ATB test(s). 
 
Committee Member Sally Furay asked if the CAHSEE was given in English only and not 
multiple languages.  Executive Director Fuentes-Michel explained that the two parts of the 
exam are written in English and the subject matter is English and Math. 
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis asked the number of students projected not to pass the exam.  
Executive Director Fuentes-Michel explained the number used by the Superintendent is 9% 
of the graduating class.  Commissioner Fousekis asked for public comment from the 
audience.   
 
Ms. Lindsey addressed the Commissioners by explaining that GAC was also interested in 
formulating estimates on the number of students potentially affected but there are no good 
estimates except ranges of possibly affected students.  In response to Commissioner 
Johnston about input from the financial aid community on this issue, Ms. Lindsey reiterated 
that GAC met twice on this issue and that the financial aid community is very familiar with 
the ATB test(s) as the federal government is strict and stringent in what they require 
financial aid officials to do.  Ms. Lindsey stated her opinion that the ATB test(s) was 
probably more equivalent to the GED than to high school graduation requirements. 
 
Mr. Timothy Bonnel comments on behalf of the California Community Colleges in support 
of the ATB recommendation.  Mr. Bonnel explained that his office looks at statute when 
responding to the CAHSEE requirement and at present, statute allows for equivalencies in 
the form of a GED and the California High School Proficiency Exam.  Mr. Bonnel continued 
that this is important precedence in supporting efforts to allow for equivalencies so that 
students can be considered for Cal Grant funding. 
 
With respect to estimating the number of students who would be denied a Cal Grant due to 
CAHSEE, Mr. Bonnel pointed out that getting the data for the Commission might be difficult 
due to the limited information currently available. Mr. Bonnel explained that the California 
Department of Education (CDE) estimates that upwards of 12% of the 2006 class have 
failed the exit exam on both parts so far.  For the California Community College system, 
Mr. Bonnel “guesstimates” that up to 3,000 Cal Grant awards will be lost to the community 
colleges based on these statistics.  Mr. Bonnel also cited a study completed by the Institute 
for Democracy, Education and Access (IDEA) out of the University of California, Los 
Angeles (UCLA) where the failure rate was listed as high as 20% of the total graduating 
population. 
 
Mr. Bonnel expressed the detrimental impact of CAHSEE on groups such as the Special 
Education population, English Language Learners, and ethnic groups.  Mr. Bonnel noted 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 12 November 17-18, 2005 
  

that these groups represent extremely high failure rates.  That being the case, Mr. Bonnel 
estimates that the community colleges may see a loss of approximately 5,000 Cal Grant 
awards.  Mr. Bonnel urged the Commission to seek a solution to the CAHSEE issue that is 
simple, equitable, and consistent with other financial aid programs for efficient 
implementation.   
 
On advice of legal counsel, Commission Chairperson Sandoval recessed the meeting and 
reconvened the Committee meeting at one o’clock.  The Commission continued the 
meeting with public comment. 
 
Mr. Craig Yamamoto, representing the California Association of Student Financial Aid 
Administrators (CASFAA), urged the Commission to use the ATB test(s) as a high school 
graduation equivalent to help students that will be disadvantaged if they do not pass the 
CAHSEE exam. Mr. Yamamoto added that the GAC is comprised of two representatives 
from each of the higher education segments, practicing financial aid directors, and system 
representatives and all support this recommendation.  
 
Karen Micalizio, representing California Community College Student Financial Aid 
Administrators (CCCSFAA), identified a disconnect between the campaign currently 
undertaken by the Commission to target areas with strong Cal Grant potential and the 
students impacted by CAHSEE.  Ms. Micalizio explained the cost barrier and access to 
existing equivalents, explaining that these impede access by the students served by the 
Commission.  Ms. Micalizio encouraged the Commission to accept the GAC 
recommendation.   
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis expressed to Ms. Micalizio that the Commissioners agree with 
the policy being advocated but expressed concern with how the Commission reaches that 
policy without violating the law and being subject to a lawsuit. 
 
Mr. Machado noted that it was important for the Commissioners to look at the Governor’s 
action on Assembly Member Bass’s bill and provide flexibility to the Commission staff in 
order to get information to meet the requirements that the Administration and others might 
have to demonstrate that the ATB test(s) is an equivalent to either graduation or CAHSEE 
if that is the direction the Commission wants to go. 
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis asked what the deadline was for the Commission to make a 
determination on this issue.  Mr. Espinoza responded that the Cal Grant award cycle would 
begin around the end of January and it is the intention of the Commission staff to begin 
awarding students based on the assumption that they will graduate based on self-reported 
FAFSA data and meet all other requirements.  Mr. Espinoza added that it would not be until 
schools are actually paying the students their Cal Grant award that they and the 
Commission will need to be sure that no ineligible students are being given an award as 
defined at that specific time. 
 
Ms. Micalizio explained that she just completed her “first financial aid night” and some 
direction needs to be provided to schools now so that they can get the correct message out 
to the students.  Vice Chairperson Fousekis explained that he understood Ms. Micalizio’s 
concern, but noted that the problem is much larger than the Commission and involves the 
Legislature and the Governor’s Office.   While sympathetic, Vice Chairperson Fousekis 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 13 November 17-18, 2005 
  

explained that the Commission is a small part of a big picture of policies that are quite 
complex.   
 
Mr. Bonnel expressed concern with workload issues if schools will be expected to 
document high school graduation.  Mr. Bonnel explained that there are approximately 
80,000 active Cal Grants in the California Community College system and high school 
graduation is not currently documented.  Mr. Bonnel added that students “self-certify” that 
they are a high school graduate on their FAFSA and the possibility that there may be 
ineligible Cal Grant participants after they have self-certified that they were high school 
graduates could generate legal action and create increase workload for schools.  Mr. 
Bonnel suggested the Commission set up an administrative process for the verification of a 
student’s actual graduation from high school and passage of the CAHSEE exam before 
they are put on the school roster.   
 
In response to Commissioner Johnston’s question regarding how long the Commission has 
known that CAHSEE was an issue, Executive Director Fuentes-Michel explained that were 
numerous efforts to delay the implementation of CAHSEE and that it was not until the 
summer of 2005 that the issue came into focus as it was made clear that there would be no 
more extensions to CAHSEE implementation.  Executive Director Fuentes-Michel further 
explained that Assembly Member Bass’s bill was the latest attempt to provide an 
alternative for students who fit into the various groups mentioned earlier.  Because the 
Governor vetoed the bill, the proposed remedy in the bill could not be implemented.  
 
Mr. Espinoza added that there was a lawsuit pending trying to stop implementation of the 
high school exit exam for certain populations.  Mr. Espinoza explained that while the issue 
with regard to Cal Grant eligibility recently came to the attention of the Commission staff 
and stakeholders, the Commission is not the only entity grappling with this issue right now 
and similar conversations are happening across the state at school districts and in other 
forums with little guidance. 
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis asked if colleges or high schools give the ATB test(s).  Mr. 
Bonnel responded that independent test administrators are responsible for administering 
the tests and, while there would be a significant administrative responsibility in 
implementing the test for Cal Grant purposes, the California Community Colleges is willing 
to assume this responsibility to make sure that the progress to these students is 
maintained.   
 
Commissioner Johnston commented that it did not appear to be difficult to provide 
evidence of the ATB test(s) academic credibility.  Assuming that is the case, Commissioner 
Johnston asked Mr. Yamanaka about the history of California accepting federal guidelines 
in instances such as the CAHSEE issue.  Mr. Yamanaka explained that establishing the 
ATB test(s) equivalency and consistency to the competency required of high school 
graduates would allow for use of the regulation process with review by the Office of 
Administrative Law (OAL). Mr. Yamanaka noted that the OAL is with the Administration and 
it remains to be seen if the OAL attorneys and staff would consult externally on this matter.   
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis asked how long the regulatory process would take if the 
Commission determined that it would act today regardless of the legislative intent on this 
issue or a potential lawsuit.  Mr. Yamanaka explained that the Commission would need to 
adopt regulations and could adopt emergency regulations given the urgency of the issue, 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 14 November 17-18, 2005 
  

submit them to OAL for review and comment, and be issued an emergency regulation to be 
in effect for 120 days.  Mr. Yamanaka elaborated that the normal rule-making process 
would also need to be initiated. 
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis asked Mr. Yamanaka if the Commission is made up of the 
experts and it deems the ATB test(s) as a viable equivalent because the federal 
government uses it why a decision cannot be made now.  Mr. Yamanaka explained that 
whether the ATB is used by the federal government is irrelevant for California law purposes 
in determining if a regulation is necessary.   
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis asked for clarification on the use of regulations and when they 
are needed.  Mr. Yamanaka explained that there are certain times a regulation is not 
needed, specifically if a law already exists and it is a matter of simply applying the law as in 
the case of the GED.  Mr. Yamanaka further explained that in matters that are unclear or 
the law is being interpreted or modified to include another aspect, a regulation is needed 
and it must follow the regulatory process.  The process exemplifies adopting a rule of 
interpretation and that process, under California law, is required to go through a regulation.   
 
Commissioner Diamond expressed his support for CAHSEE and tests like it.  
Commissioner Diamond explained that the 5,000 students who might not get a Cal Grant 
due to CAHSEE was a frightening number and should be publicized, but the question for 
the Commissioners and others should not be how to circumvent the law but rather why high 
schools are not educating students to pass the exam by teaching to a level that these 
students could pass the exam.  Commissioner Diamond explained that he would like to be 
noted for the record against circumventing something he supports. 
 
Ms. Lindsey also requested to be noted on the record that she is not advocating 
circumventing the law, but instead she is looking to clarify it.  Directing her comments to Mr. 
Yamanaka, Ms. Lindsey noted that for 46 years statute existed directing school officials to 
look for “high school graduation or its equivalency” with no regulations or administrative 
policy.   
 
Committee Member Furay expressed that she agreed with Vice Chairperson Fousekis that 
if other definitions are not excluded from what constitutes an equivalency in the law then 
the Commission should be able to act to interpret the law.  Mr. Yamanaka agreed that the 
Commission has a right to interpret the law, but there would need to be a process to make 
the Commission’s findings that the ATB test(s) is the equivalent and this process would 
need to be done through the established regulatory process. 
 
Executive Director Fuentes-Michel explained that Commission staff could begin both the 
regulatory and legislative process with the support of the Commission and in collaboration 
with the State Superintendent for Public Instruction.  She added that the Commission will 
be valued for financial aid expertise, but ultimately the matter will be an academic issue 
and an assessment issue dealing with K-12 and how the issue impacts higher education 
and equal opportunity.  Executive Director Fuentes-Michel further expressed that while 
Commission staff wants to maintain open access to higher education this issue is going be 
larger than the Commission. 
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 15 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Vice Chairperson Fousekis expressed concern that no one knows the real impact of this 
issue with respect to actual students and explained that he is bothered that thousands of 
students could potentially be left out, particularly those that have been cut out in the past.   
 
Ms. Mary Gill, from the Office of Assembly Member Carol Liu (Chair of the Assembly 
Committee on Higher Education), explained that she wanted to make a few comments that 
do not necessarily represent Assembly Member Carol Liu. Ms. Gill explained her view that 
there is enormous precedent in the Cal Grant program for using federal policies without 
regulation.  Ms. Gill asserted that the Commission’s determination of a student’s Expected 
Family Contribution (EFC), cost of attendance, and satisfactory academic progress is 
based on federal regulation and federal law.  Ms. Gill further asserted that rather than 
create regulation on these areas the Commission simply acquiesces to the federal 
government.  Ms. Gill added that the discussion is not about students who have failed but 
rather about meritorious students who have achieved either a 2.0 or a 3.0 GPA but for 
reasons that are not yet fully understood cannot pass the CAHSEE.  Ms. Gill expressed 
concern with losing a generation of several years and then the state later figures out that it 
did something wrong.  Ms. Gill urged the Commission not to bring this issue to the 
Legislature explaining her belief that the issue will not be about a student’s ability to benefit 
but instead about “political agendas” and students will be harmed.  Ms. Gill asked the 
Commissioners to find the “courage” to make an administrative decision today that the ATB 
test(s) could be used as a high school equivalent, even if it is for only a two-year period 
while investigation and validation take place.  Ms. Gill explained that she believed the 
Commission had the authority to do this. 
  
EDFUND Interim President reiterated points made earlier regarding the belief that the Cal 
Grant program was largely dependent of federal guidelines and standards.  Mr. Yamanaka 
responded by clarifying that there are certain provisions in state law that either requires the 
Commission or authorizes the Commission to meet or apply certain federal standards.  Mr. 
Yamanaka explained that in these cases the Commission is simply applying what is stated 
in state law. 
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis asked if there was anyone else who wanted to comment on this 
issue at this time.  Commissioner Johnston restated his points regarding the validity of the 
ATB test(s) and explained that there are a number of tests for schools to choose from.  
Committee Member McClain expressed her hope that the Commission could take 
administrative action today. 
 
Commission Chairperson Sandoval asked both Executive Director Fuentes-Michel and Mr. 
Yamanaka how the process would unfold if an administrative action were taken to accept 
the ATB test(s) as an equivalent to high school graduation for Cal Grant purposes.  Mr. 
Yamanaka explained that if the Commission adopted this action today then it would need 
to be implemented administratively but would be subject to a potential lawsuit.  Mr. 
Yamanaka further explained that in the case of a lawsuit the cause could be the belief that 
the Commission should have adopted a regulation and the Commission would be forced to 
litigate the issue with the possibility of an injunction being placed on the Commission’s 
action through the litigation.  Mr. Yamanaka explained that a judge would determine if an 
injunction or temporary restraining order should be issued telling the Commission not to 
spend money, based on the specific action, because it could be deemed illegal.   
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 16 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Executive Director Fuentes-Michel noted that administratively she would direct staff to 
communicate the Commission’s actions to the financial aid community through special 
communications and training workshops.  Mr. Espinoza added that administratively 
Commission staff would need to carefully think through the operational pieces connected to 
information technology system programming and whether the responsibility to verify high 
school graduation would fall at the Commission or at the local level. 
 
Vice Chairperson Fousekis personally expressed that, given the absence today about 
definitive information about CAHSEE’s impact, he did not feel the Commission was ready 
to take action.  As a result, Vice Chairperson Fousekis proposed that another meeting be 
scheduled to discuss the issue further as a Commission and with legal counsel. 
 
Commission Chairperson Sandoval proposed continued discussion of steps needed to take 
action administratively and expressed that the Commission would need to be prepared to 
defend any action it took. Commission Chairperson Sandoval further explained that the 
Commission would have foregone the opportunity to gather more information on the ATB 
test(s) if it were to take action today. Commission Chairperson Sandoval expressed his 
view that the Commission could undermine its ability to work with the Administration and 
others, including individual legislators, by taking action today and being challenged for its 
action by these same individuals. Commission Chairperson Sandoval believed it might be 
feasible to get the support of a number of entities, outside the financial aid community, but 
there needed to be some work to pull together the information to defend an action to be 
taken and understand the various concerns so they could be worked through. 
 
Committee Member Furay maintained that administrative action can be taken at this time 
by documenting the Commission consensus on the issue and delegating continued 
research on the matter to Commission staff to have it heard by the Commission’s Executive 
Committee.  Commissioner Furay explained that this approach would allow the 
Commission to move forward without waiting for a special meeting to be called and held on 
the issue. 
 
Commissioner Johnston encouraged the Commission to have schools verify Cal Grant 
eligibility through existing means as the campus financial aid officers already understand 
these issues rather than try to do it at the Commission level and create an extra step for 
students.  Mr. Espinoza expressed his agreement with Commissioner Johnston’s 
perspective, but explained that as noted by Mr. Bonnel Cal Grant eligibility verification for 
students is not widely done and that is something that would need to be looked at in the 
context of adopting a new eligibility policy.   
 
Committee Member Adele Levine explained that this issue is rampant throughout the 
education community and the Commission needs to partner with others concerned about 
this issue.  Commissioner Levine expressed her view that doing anything without 
consulting externals may result in duplicating efforts.   
 
In response to Mr. Espinoza’s comment about Cal Grant verification by schools, Ms. 
Micalizio explained that high school graduation is self-certified and schools are not required 
to verify the certification unless there is conflicting documentation as noted in the federal 
student aid handbook.  Mr. Espinoza responded that federal guidelines do not necessarily 
address how student verification needs to be done for the State of California in the Cal 
Grant program.  Mr. Espinoza clarified that he did not mean to imply in his earlier 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 17 November 17-18, 2005 
  

comments that schools do not verify any financial aid as much of the workload involves 
doing this.  Mr. Espinoza further explained with respect specifically to the Cal Grant 
program that there are instances when schools do verify and there are instances where 
they do not.  Mr. Espinoza explained that there is an assumption by some schools that 
students are eligible unless schools actually find something that would lead them to check 
a student’s eligibility and let the Commission know that a student is not eligible. 
 
Ms. Micalizio noted that she had written policy interpretation from the Commission from 
prior management that told schools to operate in the same way done with federal law and 
not verify eligibility unless there is conflicting information.  Ms. Micalizio urged the 
Commissioners to talk to CASFAA, CCCSFAAA and the California Community Colleges 
Chancellor’s Office on this issue if more discussion on the issue is needed.   
 
Executive Director Fuentes-Michel commented that due to the recent issue with the 
Transfer Entitlement program Commission staff has been asked to review the 
Commission’s policies and guidelines with respect to eligibility verification and institutional 
responsibility.  Executive Director Fuentes-Michel explained that Commission staff would 
need to bring this issue back to the Commission at a later date. 
 
At the request of Vice Chairperson Fousekis for clarification on what the Commission 
would decide on today, Committee Member Furay explained that, after the necessary 
Commission staff research is completed, the Commission would decide to accept or reject 
the ATB test(s) as an equivalent to high school graduation for Cal Grant purposes.  This 
would occur at a subsequent meeting of the Executive Committee.  Mr. Sandoval 
encouraged surveying the “landscape” noting that the Governor’s Office has already taken 
its position by vetoing recent legislation on the issue.  
 
Commissioners concluded that another meeting is needed of the full Commission rather 
than just the Executive Committee to discuss and finalize the action to be taken.  In 
preparation of a special meeting of the Commission, Commission staff was directed by the 
Commissioners to do the following research: 

 
1. Determine what constitutes an ATB test; 
2. Identify the various exams that may exist; 
3. Note Federal law on the ATB tests; 
4. Note State law on ATB tests if any; 
5. Determine California academic standard for CAHSEE and compare to ATB test(s) 

standards; 
6. Identify tests students could take to address the grade component of CAHSEE;   
7. Attempt to determine the number of students who do not pass CAHSEE to date; 

and  
8. Further define current statute discussing “high school graduation or the equivalent.” 
 

Vice Chairperson Fousekis further clarified that Commission staff is to generate a paper 
that will address the CAHSEE and ATB issue and will discuss the different issues noted 
above. Vice Chairperson Fousekis added that this document would be a public document 
that could be released.   
 
It was agreed that the Commission would meet and discuss the CAHSEE and ATB issue in 
mid-December 2006 at the conclusion of the annual 2006 CCCSFAAA and CASFAA 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 18 November 17-18, 2005 
  

conferences.  The meeting will be an open session and public comment would be 
welcomed.   

 
Grants & Programs Committee 
 
Agenda Item 5.1 – Approval of November 4, 2004 and June 28, 2005 Minutes 
 
On MOTION by Committee Member Louise McClain, SECONDED and CARRIED, the 
Committee of the Whole approved the minutes.   
 
Agenda Item 5.2 – Cal Grant Update 
 
Mr. Espinoza began by providing an update on the latest Cal Grant activities.  The 
competition for the September 2nd Cal Grant Competitive awards was successfully 
implemented for the fall 2006 term.  Applicants enrolled at one of the California Community 
Colleges (CCC) with a competitive score of 158 or above, per the Cal Grant Selection 
Criteria approved by the Commission, were awarded a competitive Cal Grant award.  Mr. 
Espinoza noted that over 85,000 financially eligible applicants were considered for the 11, 
250 available competitive awards.   
 
Mr. Espinoza explained that this year community colleges were provided an extension to 
the prior enrollment verification deadline to September 30, 2006 in response to concerns 
raised by the some colleges regarding their late start dates.  By extending the enrollment 
verification date, schools were afforded more time to prepare their enrollment files 
coinciding with the college enrollment census date, thereby providing the Commission with 
a more accurate set of student data for consideration for a Cal Grant during the 
competition.  Mr. Espinoza thanked the California Community College Chancellor’s Office 
(CCCCO) and Commission staff for helping make the September 2nd competition cycle 
successful again this year. 
 
Mr. Espinoza informed the Committee that, as of November 5, 2006, the Commission has 
awarded 65,228 new Cal Grant awards through the Cal Grant Entitlement Program and an 
additional 6,840 new awards through the Transfer Entitlement Program.  There has been a 
5.6% overall increase in the Cal Grant Entitlement Program.  Mr. Espinoza explained that 
the Commission staff is preparing for the reconciliation process, which occurs toward the 
end of the year and also gearing up for the new award cycle which starts in January for the 
2006-07 academic year.    
 
Ms. Catalina Mistler, Manager for Specialized Program Operations and Student Support 
Services Branches, informed the Commission that WebGrants for Students had finally 
launched on September 19, 2005.  Ms. Mistler explained that the WebGrants for Students 
is a tool that empowers students by allowing them to check the status of their Cal Grant 
applications and then, if awarded, allow them to manage their accounts by updating 
demographic information, checking their payment history, and taking the lead in keeping 
their accounts current.  Students were informed of the new site through the issuing of 
20,000 postcards and email messages to current Chaffee and Cal Grant students.  A 
memo will eventually be sent to all schools this fall opening up the site to all students.  Ms. 
Mistler added that thus far all comments from students have been positive.   
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 19 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Commissioner Dean Johnston asked about the administrative advantage in using the 
student site.  Ms. Mistler explained that having students complete basic update information 
on their accounts via the website helps decrease incoming calls and the staff time used to 
key the information.  In addition, it provides some needed relief to the local financial aid 
offices in having to deal with relatively simple and less complex issues related to students 
maintenance of their award.   
 
Ms. Anne Robertson, Manager of the Cal Grant Operations Branch, discussed changes to 
the GPA Verification Form.  Ms. Robertson discussed the change in the form’s format and 
the manner in which it is being processed to make processing more accurate and efficient.  
At least 100 hardcopy GPA Verification Forms will be issued to all schools with the option 
for them to order more if they need them.  In addition to receiving hardcopies directly, Ms. 
Robertson added, schools and students will now be able to download the form, complete it, 
and forward to the Commission for processing.  This downloadable feature is a new tool 
designed to make the form more accessible to students.  Ms. Robertson explained that 
future phases on the GPA processing project will allow filing-in the form on-line by schools 
with the student’s electronic consent.   
 
Ms. Robertson informed the Commission that the Commission’s External Letter Review 
Committee has completed a full review of all system-generated Cal Grant letters.  Ms. 
Robertson explained that changes recommended by the External Letter Review Committee 
will be implemented with the new award cycle starting January 2006.   
 
Ms. Mistler explained that there has been an over 70% increase in the number of students 
within the Cal Grant Program since the year 2000.  Because of this, and the desire to serve 
our customers more efficiently, an Interactive Voice Response (IVR) calling system was 
implemented within the Student Support Services Branch’s Call Center.  Rather than wait 
on hold for a financial aid advisor within the Branch, student and parents calling the 
Commission’s toll-free number are provided with access to their Chafee and Cal Grant data 
through the IVR.  
 
Ms. Mistler added that effective use of the IVR will reduce the call hold time for the callers 
and the frequency of agent-assisted calls.  Additionally, like WebGrants for Students, 
service will be available to students 24 hours a day, seven days a week (24/7).  This new 
tool, combined with the other new services recently implemented, should significantly 
increase customer satisfaction.  Ms. Mistler noted that these new initiatives are important 
milestones in ensuring schools and students receive the service they need and deserve 
form the Commission.  Mr. Espinoza publicly thanked the Commission staff for their recent 
efforts to improve service delivery and get everything in place before the next year’s 
awarding cycle.  Mr. Espinoza also acknowledged that none of these projects could have 
been accomplished without the support of many individuals in the audience and across the 
agency.   
 
Commission Chairperson Sandoval also thanked the extraordinary efforts of Commission 
staff recalling the initial effort to put the IVR system, and other tools, in place and how the 
ideas were introduced initially as ideas almost a year ago and welcomed warmly by the 
financial aid community.  He acknowledged that under Mr. Espinoza’s direction and 
leadership, new technologies and resources have been maximized within the Commission 
to improve services to students and schools.  Chairperson Sandoval added that the 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 20 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Commissioners owed Mr. Espinoza their deep appreciation for these important efforts.  
Commissioner Johnston echoed the sentiment.  
 
Agenda Item 5.3 – School Support Services Training Initiative 
 
This item was tabled until the next Committee meeting in February due to time constraints.  
However, Mr. Espinoza provided the committee with an overview of the school support 
services training initiative. 
 
Mr. Espinoza began by discussing the Cal Grant and High School Workshops completed 
by Commission and EDFUND staff and how staff, in addition to providing program training 
and support, have also been notifying participants of the new training opportunities to be 
provided by Commission staff.  Additional staff, recently hired, will allow for a more 
comprehensive and expansive level of service to the Commission’s school customers with 
the expectation that more schools will get the training they need to successfully implement 
Cal Grant Programs on their campuses—already there has been an 11% participant 
registration increase in the fall Cal Grant Workshops over last year.   
 
In response to concerns raised by industry partners, the new staff was hired with specific 
school experience to bring to the Commission.  Mr. Espinoza proceeded by introducing the 
new staff to the Commission and listing the various areas of specialization for each.  Clarita 
Cortez, Corazon Manuel, Jose Garcia and Drew Schreple were added to the Program & 
Administration Services Division (PASD) and will be providing service in training and 
program operations.  Mr. Espinoza added that the new staff know that they were 
specifically hired because of their school experience and to help the Commission become 
more responsive to school needs. 
 
Commissioner Johnston commented how his segment is the only one in financial aid that 
requires state certification of their staff.  This, he added, ensures that new staff has the 
necessary training to continue to provide quality service to students.  He recognized that 
some of the new hires came from his segment and explained how it pleased him that these 
type of staff from his segment, which are already well trained in financial aid, are being 
added to Commission staff.   
 
Executive Director Fuentes-Michel commended Mr. Espinoza for doing a great job in 
meeting the expectation of establishing the School Services Branch within the Program 
Administration & Services Division and bringing highly qualified and capable staff to the 
Commission.   
 
Committee Member Sally Furay noted that many of the changes were technological and 
extremely helpful to the student so she took the opportunity to thank John Bays, Chief, 
Information Technology Division, and the IT staff for all their work.  Executive Director 
Fuentes-Michel concurred with Commissioner Furay.  Mr. Bays acknowledged the 
contributions of EDFUND as an organization in making Commission projects develop into 
the desired outcomes.   
 
Agenda Item 5.4 – CSAC/EDFUND Synergy Projects 
 
This item was tabled until the next Committee meeting in February due to time constraints.  



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 21 November 17-18, 2005 
  

 
Agenda Item 5.5 – Report from the Grant Advisory Committee (GAC) Chair 
 
GAC Chairperson Lindsey welcomed new Chairperson Sandoval and Vice Chairperson 
McClain.  GAC Chairperson Lindsey reported that she’d been re-elected for her current 
position and Maria Hernandez, Director of Financial Aid at CSU, Fresno, was elected as 
Vice Chairperson for the next year.   
 
Chairperson Lindsey reiterated GAC’s recommendation regarding the California High 
School Exit Examination (CAHSEE), the income and asset ceilings, the Cal Grant selection 
scoring criteria; the student expense budget and the meeting schedule and topics list for 
GAC for next year.  The item not having been addressed, she added, was the 
recommendation concerning students displaced by hurricanes Katrina and Rita.   
 
Chairperson Lindsey explained that GAC recommended using existing administrative 
policy, bundling together automatic leave of absence, as well as retroactive leave of 
absences, if we can reinstate as many Cal Grant awards, for as many past years possible, 
for students having to return to California due to the hurricanes.   
 
Executive Director Fuentes-Michel explained that reinstatement of previously considered 
Cal Grant participants is a budgeting issue in terms of increasing the number of eligible 
students.  The Commission, she added, has already moved to work with students 
impacted, but did so following the guidelines exercised by the various segments allowing 
students to their campuses as visitors.  
 
Chairperson Sandoval cautioned about engaging in activity that would deplete enrollment 
at respective campuses in the states impacted by the hurricanes.  He continued that his 
segment (UC) ensured that the students allowed into their campuses came in as visitors 
with the expectation of returning to their home institutions.  Admissions fees, he added, 
were waived for the term that they needed accommodation, but then the student would 
return to their home institution.   
 
Committee Member Furay and Commissioner Johnston understood the concerns 
expressed by Chairperson Sandoval noting that the commitment had to be to both the 
student and the institution.  Chairperson Sandoval added that extending a student’s stay 
beyond the current term that is paid for, as explained by Committee Member Furay, needs 
to be decided on a case-by-case basis and not have a blanket policy applicable to all 
students impacted by the hurricanes.   
 
Commissioners understood the spirit of the recommendation, as expressed by GAC 
Chairperson Lindsey, but were not ready to take action.  They concluded that there was no 
action on the floor and students impacted by the hurricanes will continue to be treated 
according to existing Commission policy.   
 
Agenda Item 5.6 –  Proposed 2006 Meeting Dates for the GAC, GAC Workgroups and 

the Advisory and Enhancement Workgroup 
 
Mr. Espinoza explained that the GAC and the Advisory and Enhancements (A&E) 
Workgroup have been included in the calendar in an effort to establish meeting dates and 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 22 November 17-18, 2005 
  

also to formalize A&E so that that consultation occurs with greater frequency.  He also 
added that the Commission staff is moving toward covering meeting expenses for 
designated A&E member in an effort to provide support and incentives for stakeholder 
participation in these meetings.  Travel expenses are already covered by the Commission 
for GAC members.   
 
Chairperson Mary Lindsey informed Commissioners that, after review of GAC needs and 
the recommendation of staff, GAC seeks to meet three times a year as opposed to once a 
year.  Secondly, she added, the workgroups for GAC have been identified and the 
expectation is that, as needed, workgroups can meet the day before the scheduled GAC 
meeting.  Mr. Espinoza explained that the schedule before the Commissioners is part of an 
effort toward increasing GAC and workgroup meetings and balancing between getting 
valuable input from stakeholders and being fiscally prudent in expending state funds as 
directed by the Department of Finance.   
 
In addition to the list of workgroup issues attached to this tab, GAC Chairperson Lindsey 
also noted GAC’s previous participation with input to the listing budget principles in relation 
to the budget change proposal (BCP) process.  Mr. Espinoza explained that Commission 
staff had informed GAC that going-forward Commission staff could bring the budget 
principles to GAC for review, and input, before bringing them forth to the Commission to 
ensure their input prior to Commission action.  This commitment would be fulfilled in the 
following year due to the fact that the Commission had already approved its budget 
principals.  
 
Committee Member Sally Furay stated she was comfortable with approving the number of 
committee meetings and workgroup topics as described but not specific meeting dates.  
Commissioner Furay added that the approval of meeting dates lies within the scope of 
Commission management and did not require Commission action.  Mr. Espinoza explained 
that in prior years the Commission approved the issues and the meeting dates and that is 
why it was being brought forward to the Committee in this manner.  Committee Member 
Adele Levine explained that Commission review of committee and workgroup meetings 
came out of the Governor’s meeting restriction of three or four years ago.   
 
Mr. Espinoza asked if the frequency of meeting dates will be left at the discretion of staff. 
Commissioner Johnston added that staff could do so in consultation with the committees.  
Executive Director Dianna Fuentes-Michel commented that the number of meetings is tied 
to the budget, but every effort would be made to hold the necessary meetings as described 
and as needed.   
 
Commissioner Johnston asked GAC Chairperson Lindsey to explain the meeting process 
under the recent meeting restrictions.  GAC Chairperson Lindsey explained that when a full 
agenda is set, an “in-person” meeting is best.  She added that workgroups do much of the 
research and then present it at the GAC meeting.  If the meeting is for one issue only, she 
adds, teleconferencing works well and it’s the combination of workgroups and meetings 
that has worked really well for GAC.   
 
Executive Director Fuentes-Michel understood the value of meetings, but she explained 
that there needed to be a balance between the number of meetings held, and the 
preparation that goes into them, and the availability of staff to do the extensive level of 
work involved in preparing for these meetings.  New initiatives like the Chafee Grant and 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 23 November 17-18, 2005 
  

State Nursing Assumption Program of Loans (SNAPLE) did not come with significant 
additional staff resources and maintaining a healthy working balance is important in order 
to avoid staff burn-out and stress.  GAC Chairperson Lindsey clarified that GAC members 
are prepared, as in the past, to do the work needed to get GAC issues addressed and not 
allow them to fall through the cracks due to meeting discrepancies.   
 
On MOTION by Committee Member Furay, SECONDED and CARRIED, the Committee of 
the Whole approved the GAC meeting dates and topics, as proposed. 
 
Agenda Item 5.7 – Proposed 2006-2007 Cal Grant Student Expense Budgets 
 
Mr. Espinoza explained that the Grant Advisory Committee (GAC) met in October 2005 and 
unanimously recommended adoption of the proposed expense budgets by the 
Commission.   
 
On MOTION by Commissioner Dean Johnston, SECONDED and CARRIED, the Committee 
of the Whole approved 2006-07 Cal Grant Student Expense Budgets.  
 
Agenda Item 5.8 – Proposed 2006-2007 Cal Grant Program Income and Asset Ceilings 
 
Mr. Espinoza explained that current law requires that the Commission annually adjust the 
income and asset ceilings using the change in California per capita income.  This data has 
also been vetted and unanimously approved by GAC for recommendation to the 
Commission for adoption today.   
 
Committee Member Adele Levine asked about the data used to base the ceilings.  Mr. 
Espinoza explained that the data comes from the Department of Finance.  Ms. Levine 
asked if the survey data was the data used statewide.  Mr. Espinoza noted that the 
information used is demographic data is generated by Department of Finance.  The 
methodology is very specific and in statute requiring the Commission to use the data and 
adjust it annually.   
 
On MOTION by Commissioner Dean Johnston, SECONDED and CARRIED, the Committee 
of the Whole approved the Cal Grant Income and Assets Ceilings.  
 
Agenda Item 5.9 – Proposed 2006-2007 Cal Grant Selection Criteria 
 
Mr. Espinoza explained that the Commission annually adopts the Cal Grant selection 
criteria that are used to select students in the competitive Cal Grant A and B program, as 
well as the two percent of the new Cal Grant B students who receive tuition, fees and 
access grant in their first year.  GAC members have reviewed the criteria and recommend 
adoption by the Commission.  Mr. Espinoza commented that in the coming year 
Commission staff and GAC members will be conducting an extensive review of the 
selection criteria process in light of the new data being generated by the SEARS three-year 
survey.   
 
On MOTION by Commissioner Johnston, SECONDED and CARRIED, the Committee of 
the Whole approved the Cal Grant Selection Criteria. 
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 24 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Before adjourning the meeting, Mr. Espinoza expressed appreciation for the good work 
completed between Commission staff and GAC Chairperson Lindsey, noting that GAC 
Chairperson Lindsey has served as an outstanding GAC Chairperson and a dedicated 
advocate for students and the financial aid community. 
 
 

CLOSED SESSION 
 
At 3:40 p.m., Chair Sandoval reconvened the Full Commission and recessed into Closed 
Session to discuss matters of a proprietary nature. 
 
 
RECONVENING OF THE FULL COMMISSION 
 
The meeting of the California Student Aid Commission reconvened at 8:32 a.m. on Friday, 
November 18, 2005, at 3300 Zinfandel Drive, Rancho Cordova, California. 
 
The following Commission Members were present: 
 

James Sandoval, Chair (Via Conference Call) 
Louise McClain, Vice Chair 
James Fousekis, Treasurer (Via Conference Call) 
Josefina Baltodano, Secretary 
Rory Diamond 
Michele Dyke 
Sally Furay 
Dean Johnston (Via Conference Call) 
Adele Levine 
Charles Moore (Via Conference Call) 

 
The following Commission Member was absent: 
 
 David Roth 
 
 
CONTINUATION OF THE CLOSED SESSION 
 
Vice Chair McClain immediately recessed the Open Session portion of the meeting to continue 
the Closed Session and discuss matters of a proprietary nature.   
 
 
RECONVENING OF THE FULL COMMISSION IN OPEN SESSION 
 
At 10:10 a.m., Vice Chair McClain reconvened the Full Commission meeting in Open Session 
and reported that during the preceding Closed Session, the Commission took into 
consideration personnel issues, pending litigation, and EDFUND business.  Vice Chair McClain 
reported that no actions were taken. 
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 25 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Additionally, Vice Chair McClain noted that there was discussion yesterday indicating that 
Grants and Programs Committee agenda item 5.3 – School Support Services Training Initiative 
and agenda item 5.4 – CSAC/EDFUND Synergy Projects would be reported on today.  It was 
explained that the Commissioners have read the materials and have no questions; therefore, 
in the interest of time, the Commission reached a consensus yesterday to forgo the report. 
 
 
CHAIR’S REPORT 
 
Vice Chair McClain reported that Chair Sandoval has nothing that he wishes to report. 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6.1 – EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
Executive Director Michel updated the Commission on the following: 
 

• Executive Director Michel will join Superintendent Jack O’Connell in a web-stream 
casting interview on December 6th to discuss the availability of financial aid and the Cal 
Grant Program. 

 
• Commission staff is gearing up for the Cash for College events.  Executive Director 

Michel encouraged Commissioners who have an interest in participating in their 
regional areas to alert staff so that they can be advised accordingly. 

 
• Chief Deputy Director Jacqueline Tsang will retire December 16, 2005 and Chair 

Sandoval has asked her to return for the February Commission meeting to allow 
members to wish her farewell. 

 
• In honor of the retirement of Don Edmonds, Assistant Vice President of EDFUND 

Business Operations, after 37 years of State service, Executive Director Michel recited 
a resolution from Governor Arnold Schwarzenegger.  Mr. Edmonds announced that he 
will continue to work for the auxiliary organization. 

 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6.2 – APPROVAL OF SEPTEMBER 8, 2005 MINUTES 
 
On MOTION by Commissioner Furay, SECONDED and CARRIED, the September 8, 2005 
meeting minutes were APPROVED as presented. 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6.3 – EDFUND PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 
EDFUND Interim President Sam Kipp updated the Commission on the following: 
 

• New loan volume increased by approximately 2.1%. 
 
• EDFUND has produced a new edition of “Life 101,” a magazine for college-bound 

students distributed to high schools in California and across the nation.  The well-



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 26 November 17-18, 2005 
  

received publication includes outreach information on student loan borrowing and 
Cal Grants. 

 
• EDFUND sponsored a Forum on Successful Student Borrowing attended by schools 

across the country that have made significant improvements in their default rates.  
EDFUND will be producing a publication on successful student borrowing, including 
the best practices developed as part of the discussions, and will be sharing the 
publication with a wider audience of schools. 

 
Lastly, Interim President Kipp acknowledged the sudden passing of EDFUND employee, Joe 
Lane, who served in the training division and had a profound impact on his fellow employees. 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6.4 – CSAC-EDFUND ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Commissioner and EDFUND Board Chair Furay presented the eighth draft of the Roles and 
Responsibilities document and reported that the Commission has been asked by Secretary 
Bersin’s Office to postpone final action on the roles and responsibilities until the results of the 
Bureau of State Audits (BSA) review are released.  Chair Furay noted, however, that the 
Commission may discuss and reach consensus with regard to the direction it would like to 
take. 
 
Executive Director Michel indicated as a point of clarification regarding the introductory 
statement that she worked collaboratively and in cooperation with the members of the group 
that participated in the meeting with Secretary Bersin and his legal counsel, knowing that the 
clarity in terms of the roles and responsibility for the Commission should be stated, and the 
issues resolved in terms of the specific role of the Executive Director as a State official and the 
CEO of the guaranty agency. 
 
Mr. Tim Bonnel, California Community Colleges Chancellor’s Office, requested that under 
“Roles and Responsibilities of EDFUND Board for Operation of EDFUND,” Item 2, 3rd bullet, that 
the reference to “community colleges” be changed to “community college system.” 
 
Ms. Donna Huber, President-Elect of the California Lenders for Education (CLFE), requested 
that under Item 2, 3rd bullet, the document include CLFE as a stakeholder. 
 
Interim President Kipp suggested that under Item 2, 4th bullet, the word “jointly” be changed to 
“cooperatively.” 
 
Chair Furay asked whether any Commissioners were not in accord with the wording of the two-
page Roles and Responsibilities document and, hearing no response, concluded that the 
Commission had reached a consensus. 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6.5 – REPORT FROM THE STANDING COMMITTEES 
 
 Item 6.5.1 – Personnel, Evaluations and Nominations (PEN) Committee Report 
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 27 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Commissioner McClain, Acting Chair of the PEN Committee, reported that the Committee 
met on November 9 2005 and discussed the following: (Additional information may be 
found in the November 9, 2005 agenda materials and/or transcripts.) 
 
On MOTION by the Committee and CARRIED, the Commission voted to APPROVE the 
following appointments: 

 
Grant Advisory Committee 

 
• Maria Hernandez as the California State University Institution Representative for the 

term November 18, 2005 to November 18, 2007. 
• Tomasa Duena as the University of California Student Representative for the term 

November 18, 2005 to November 18, 2007. 
 

Loan Advisory Council 
 

• Dolores Niccolai as the California Lenders for Education (CLFE) Representative for 
the term November 18, 2005 to November 18, 2007. 

• Audrey Tanner as the Private Post-Secondary Education (Non-Profit) Institution 
Representative for the term November 18, 2005 to November 18, 2007. 

 
EDFUND Board of Directors 

 
• Wayne Sparks as the Out-of-State Director for the term November 18, 2005 to 

November 18, 2008. 
• Frederick M. Weis as Director for the term November 18, 2005 to November 18, 

2008, pending his official acceptance. 
 

EDFUND Board Chair Furay reported that the PEN Committee will conduct interviews for the 
in-state financial aid expert.  She noted that three vacancies remain on the Board as of 
May 31, 2005 and asked that any recommendations be submitted. 
Item 6.5.2 – Fiscal Policy and Long-Range Planning (Fiscal) Committee Report 
 
Commissioner Baltodano, Chair of the Fiscal Committee, reported that the Committee met 
on November 14, 2005, and discussed the following: (Additional information may be found 
in the November 14, 2005 agenda materials and/or transcripts.) 
 
On MOTION by the Committee and CARRIED, the Commission voted to APPROVE the 
following items: 
 

1. Cal Grant Program Guiding Principles for the 2006-07 budget discussions. 
2. Loan Program Guiding Principles for the 2006-07 budget discussions. 

 
Commissioner Baltodano reported that the Fiscal Committee met in closed session and 
approved several recommendations. 
 
On MOTION by the Committee and CARRIED, the Commission voted to APPROVE the 
authority for the Executive Director to sign the Voluntary Flexible Agreement (VFA) if it 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 28 November 17-18, 2005 
  

remains substantially the same as the proposal presented to the U.S. Department of 
Education. 
 
On MOTION by the Committee and CARRIED, the Commission voted to APPROVE the 
2005-06 Loan Program Business Plan and Budget, as presented. 
 
Item 6.5.3 – Outreach Committee Report 
 
Commissioner McClain, Chair of the Outreach Committee, reported that the Committee of 
the Whole met on November 17, 2005 and discussed the following: (Additional information 
may be found in the November 17, 2005 agenda materials and/or transcripts.) 
 
The Committee of the Whole took action to approve the September 8, 2005 minutes and 
received the following updates: 

• Overview of the Public Awareness Campaign 
• Report on the Outreach Summits 
• Cash for College Update 

 
Item 6.5.4 – Audit Committee Report 
 
Diane Manning, Chief of CSAC Internal Audits and Vice President of EDFUND Audit 
Services, reported that the Committee of the Whole met on November 17, 2005 and 
discussed the following: (Additional information may be found in the November 17, 2005 
agenda materials and/or transcripts.) 
 
The Committee of the Whole took action to APPROVE the following items: 

• September 8, 2005 CSAC Audit Committee Minutes 
• CSAC Internal Audit Plan 

 
The Committee of the Whole also received the following informational updates: 

• Joint Legislative Audit Update 
• Program Compliance Reviews 
• Current CSAC Litigation 

 
Item 6.5.5 – Governmental Relations Committee Report 
 
Commissioner Dyke, Acting Chair of the Governmental Relations Committee, reported that 
the Committee of the Whole met on November 17, 2005 and discussed the following: 
(Additional information may be found in the November 17, 2005 agenda materials and/or 
transcripts.) 
 
The Committee of the Whole took action to APPROVE the September 8, 2005 minutes and 
received the following updates: 

• State and Federal Legislative Bill Update 
• California Budget Outlook 
• Higher Education Act and Congress’s Work on Reconciliation 

 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 29 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Item 6.5.6 – Joint Governmental Relations & Grants and Programs Committee Report 
 

Commissioner McClain, Acting Chair of the Joint Governmental Relations & Grants and 
Programs Committee, reported that the Committee of the Whole met on November 17, 
2005 and discussed the following: (Additional information may be found in the November 
17, 2005 agenda materials and/or transcripts.) 
 
The Committee of the Whole discussed the California High School Exit Exam; specifically, 
the policy and legal implications on Cal Grants and pursuing remedies through 
administrative action, regulatory means, or legislation. 
 
Based on the Grant Advisory Group’s recommendations, the Commission directed staff to 
research the following and report back in December 2005: 
 

• Federal Ability-to-Benefit regulations and requirements; 
• State and Federal statutes and regulations defining the means of equivalency for 

standards of testing to identify and estimate the number of students impacted; and 
• Ability-to-Benefit test authorized for use by the U.S. Department of Education. 

 
Item 6.5.7 – Grants and Programs Committee Report 

 
Commissioner McClain, Acting Chair of the Grants and Programs Committee, reported that 
the Committee of the Whole met on November 17, 2005 and discussed the following: 
(Additional information may be found in the November 17, 2005 agenda materials and/or 
transcripts.) 

 
The Committee of the Whole took action to APPROVE the following items: 

• November 4, 2004 Grants and Programs Committee Minutes 
• June 28, 2005 Grants and Programs Committee Minutes 
• Proposed 2006 Meeting Topics for the Grant Advisory Committee (GAC), GAC 

Workgroups, and Advisory & Enhancement Workgroup 
• 2006-07 Cal Grant Student Expense Budget 
• 2006-07 Cal Grant Program Income and Asset Ceilings 
• 2006-07 Cal Grant Selection Criteria 

 
 
CLOSING REMARKS 
 
Commissioner Baltodano wished to publicly acknowledge Executive Director Michel, Janet 
McDuffie, President Kipp and Len Hyde for their outstanding work on the loan program 
business plan and budget. 
 
Vice Chair McClain expressed heartfelt thanks and acknowledgement to Jacqueline Tsang, 
who will be retiring in December 2005, for her amazing career in civil service.  She also 
announced that Commissioner Maria Elena Serna and former Chair David Roth would be 
acknowledged in February 2006. 
 



DRAFT 

California Student Aid Commission Meeting 30 November 17-18, 2005 
  

Vice Chair McClain and Commissioner Furay expressed a final note to remember during the 
Thanksgiving holiday, the American military serving overseas as well as the victims of the Gulf 
hurricanes. 
 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There was no further comment from the public. 
 
 
The meeting of the California Student Aid Commission was adjourned at 10:55 a.m. 
 
 
 
              

Josefina Baltodano 
     Secretary 


	Action/Information Item
	California Student Aid Commission
	Approval of November 17-18, 2005 Minutes


